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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM1. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CARTESIAN, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands)

(unaudited)
June 28, December 28,
2014 2013
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $18,649 $ 13,780
Accounts receivable, net 16,673 11,716
Prepaid and other current assets 1,524 1,751
Total current assets 36,846 27,247
NONCURRENT ASSETS:
Property and equipment, net 1,055 1,202
Goodwill 8,387 8,225
Deferred income tax assets 1,518 -
Other noncurrent assets 142 150
Total Assets $47,948 $ 36,824

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Trade accounts payable $3,402 $ 2,036
Current borrowings 3,269 -
Liability for derivatives 385 -
Accrued payroll, bonuses and related expenses 4,693 4,249
Accrued severance liability and related costs 2,860 1,491
Deferred revenue 2,777 591
Other accrued liabilities 1,769 1,631
Total current liabilities 19,155 9,998

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:
Deferred income tax liabilities 644 586
Other noncurrent liabilities 241 342
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Total noncurrent liabilities 885 928
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Total stockholders’ equity 27,908 25,898
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $47,948 $ 36,824

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CARTESIAN, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)

(In thousands, except per share data)

(unaudited)
Thirteen Weeks Twenty-six Weeks
Ended Ended
June 28, June 29,  June 28, June 29,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Revenues $17.420 $14,037 $ 33,657 $ 28,047
Cost of services 11,080 8,621 21,390 17,590
Gross Profit 6,340 5,416 12,267 10,457

Selling, general and administrative expenses (includes non-cash

share-based compensation expense of $272 and $234 for the

thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, 7,789 5,850 13,708 11,029
respectively and $446 and $297 for the twenty-six weeks ended

June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, respectively)

Loss from operations (1,449 ) (434 ) (1,441 ) (572
Other (expense) income:

Interest (expense) income, net (63 ) 1 (71 ) 2
Discount on note payable and transaction costs (82 ) - (1,610 ) -
Change in fair value of warrants and derivative liabilities 128 - 111 -
Total other (expense) income: (17 ) 1 (1,570 ) 2
Loss before income taxes (1,466 ) (433 ) (@3,011 ) (570
Income tax benefit (provision) 1,553 23 ) 1,524 (39
Net income (loss) 87 456 ) (1,487 ) (609
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustment 286 60 423 (448
Comprehensive income (loss) $373 $39% ) $(1,064 ) $ (1,057
Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic $0.01 $(0.06 )$020 ) $(0.09
Diluted $0.01 $0.06 )$020 ) $(0.09

Weighted average shares used in calculation of net income (loss)

per common share
Basic 7,899 7,126 7,606 7,122

Diluted 8,140 7,126 7,606 7,122
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See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CARTESIAN, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

(unaudited)

For the Twenty-six Weeks Ended

June 28, June 29,

2014 2013
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (1,487 ) $ (609 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation 339 335
Share-based compensation 446 298
Deferred tax (benefit) expense (1,524 ) 39
Discount on note payable 1,265 -
Change in fair value of warrants and derivative liabilities (111 ) -
Other - (50 )
Other changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (4,645 ) 386
Prepaid and other assets 351 (46 )
Trade accounts payable 1,253 318
Deferred revenue 2,144 93 )
Accrued liabilities 1,826 (932 )
Net cash used in operating activities (143 ) (354 )
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of property and equipment (260 ) (215 )
Net cash used in investing activities (260 ) (215 )
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repurchase of common stock 42 ) -
Borrowing on note payable 3,269 -
Issuance of common stock 2,066 22
Equity issuance costs 167 ) -
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,126 22
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 146 (105 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,869 (652 )

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 13,780 12,177
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Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 18,649
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid during period for interest $ 43
Accrued property and equipment additions $ 58
Leasehold improvements acquired through lease incentive $ -

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

$ 11,525

$ 301
$ 113

10
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CARTESIAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

1. Basis of Reporting

On June 18, 2014, stockholders of The Management Network Group, Inc. approved a proposal to change the name of
The Management Network Group, Inc. to Cartesian, Inc. When used in this report, unless the context requires

non nn nn

otherwise, the terms "Cartesian," "we," "us," "our" or the "Company" refer to Cartesian, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

The condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes of Cartesian, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of
June 28, 2014, and for the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013 are unaudited and
reflect all normal recurring adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for the fair presentation
of the Company’s condensed consolidated financial position, results of operations, and cash flows as of these dates and
for the periods presented. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and pursuant
to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim financial information.
Consequently, these statements do not include all the disclosures normally required by U.S. GAAP for annual
financial statements nor those normally made in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K. Accordingly, reference
should be made to the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the fiscal year ended
December 28, 2013, included in the 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K (“2013 Form 10-K”) for additional disclosures,
including a summary of the Company’s accounting policies. In addition, on August 12, 2014 the Company filed with
the SEC a Current Report on Form 8-K to retrospectively revise the Company’s annual consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto that were initially filed with the SEC in the 2013 Form 10-K to reflect revisions to its
reportable segments that were made in the first quarter of fiscal year 2014. The retrospective revision to the
consolidated financial statements does not impact previously reported consolidated operating income (loss) from
operations, net income (loss), or earnings (loss) per share. The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 28, 2013 included in this report has been derived from the audited Consolidated Balance Sheet at that date
but does not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements.
The Company has evaluated subsequent events for recognition or disclosure through the date these unaudited
consolidated financial statements were issued.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The results of operations for the thirteen and
twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year

11
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ending January 3, 2015.

Revenue Recognition - The Company recognizes revenue from time and materials consulting contracts in the period in
which its services are performed. In addition to time and materials contracts, the Company also has fixed fee
contracts. The Company recognizes revenues on milestone or deliverables-based fixed fee contracts and time and
materials contracts not to exceed contract price using the percentage of completion-like method described by Financial
Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 605-35,"Revenue Recognition -
Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts." For fixed fee contracts where services are not based on providing
deliverables or achieving milestones, the Company recognizes revenue on a straight-line basis over the period during
which such services are expected to be performed. In connection with some fixed fee contracts, the Company may
receive payments from customers that exceed revenues up to that point in time. The Company records the excess of
receipts from customers over recognized revenue as deferred revenue. Deferred revenue is classified as a current
liability to the extent it is expected to be earned within twelve months from the date of the balance sheet.

The FASB ASC 605-35 percentage-of-completion-like methodology involves recognizing revenue using the
percentage of services completed, on a current cumulative cost to total cost basis, using a reasonably consistent profit
margin over the period. Due to the longer term nature of these projects, developing the estimates of costs often
requires significant judgment. Factors that must be considered in estimating the progress of work completed and
ultimate cost of the projects include, but are not limited to, the availability of labor and labor productivity, the nature
and complexity of the work to be performed, and the impact of delayed performance. If changes occur in delivery,
productivity or other factors used in developing the estimates of costs or revenues, the Company revises its cost and
revenue estimates, which may result in increases or decreases in revenues and costs, and such revisions are reflected in
income in the period in which the facts that give rise to that revision become known.

The Company develops, installs and supports customer software in addition to the provision of traditional consulting
services. The Company recognizes revenue in connection with its software sales agreements under ASC 985-605,
utilizing the percentage of completion-like method described in ASC 605- 35. These agreements include software
right-to-use licenses ("RTU's") and related customization and implementation services. Due to the long-term nature of
the software implementation and the extensive software customization based on normal customer specific
requirements, both the RTU’s and implementation services are treated as a single element for revenue recognition
purposes.

In addition to the professional services related to the customization and implementation of its software, the Company
may also provide post-contract support ("PCS") services, including technical support and maintenance services as well
as other professional services not essential to the functionality of the software. For those contracts that include PCS
service arrangements which are not essential to the functionality of the software solution, the Company separates the
FASB ASC 605-35 software services and PCS services utilizing the multiple-element arrangement model prescribed
by FASB ASC 605-25, "Revenue Recognition - Multiple-Element Arrangements". FASB ASC 605-25 addresses the
accounting treatment for an arrangement to provide the delivery or performance of multiple products and/or services
where the delivery of a product or system or performance of services may occur at different points in time or over
different periods of time. The Company utilizes FASB ASC 605-25 to separate the PCS service elements and allocate
total contract consideration to the contract elements based on the relative fair value of those elements utilizing PCS
renewal terms as evidence of fair value. Revenues from PCS services are recognized ratably on a straight-line basis

12
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over the term of the support and maintenance agreement.

Fair Value Measurement - The Company utilizes the methods of fair value measurement as described in FASB ASC
820, “Fair Value Measurements” to value its financial assets and liabilities, including the financial instruments issued
in the transaction described in Note 2, Strategic Alliance and Investment by Elutions, Inc. As defined in FASB ASC
820, fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In order to increase consistency and comparability in
fair value measurements, FASB ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and
unobservable inputs used to measure fair value into three broad levels, which are described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by market data.

13
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Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the
lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as considers counterparty credit risk in its
assessment of fair value.

Managed Services Implementation Revenues and Costs - Managed service arrangements provide for the delivery of a
software or technology based solution to clients over a period of time without the transfer of a license or a software
sale to the customer. For long-term managed service agreements, implementation efforts are often necessary to
develop the software utilized to deliver the managed service. Costs of such implementation efforts may include
internal and external costs for coding or customizing systems and costs for conversion of client data. The Company
may invoice its clients for implementation fees at the go-live date of the underlying software. Lump sum
implementation fees received from clients are initially deferred and recognized on a pro-rata basis as services are
provided. Specific, incremental and direct costs of implementation incurred prior to the services going live are
deferred pursuant to FASB ASC 605-35-25 and amortized over the period that the related ongoing services revenue is
recognized to the extent that the Company believes the recoverability of the costs from the contract is probable. If a
client terminates a managed services arrangement prior to the end of the contract, a loss on the contract may be
recorded, if applicable, and any remaining deferred implementation revenues and costs would then be recognized into
earnings generally over the remaining service period through the termination date. During the thirteen and twenty-six
weeks ended June 28, 2014, implementation costs of $79,000 and $229,000 related to managed services contracts
were deferred. No implementation costs related to managed services contracts were deferred during the thirteen and
twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013.

Research and Development and Software Development Costs - During the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June
28, 2014, software development costs of $360,000 and $564,000, respectively, were expensed as incurred. During the
thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013, software development costs of $119,000 and $314,000,
respectively, were expensed as incurred. No software development costs were capitalized during the thirteen and
twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation - Cartesian Limited and the international operations of Cambridge
Strategic Management Group, Inc. conduct business primarily denominated in their respective local currency, which is
their functional currency. Assets and liabilities have been translated to U.S. dollars at the period-end exchange rates.
Revenues and expenses have been translated at exchange rates which approximate the average of the rates prevailing
during each period. Translation adjustments are reported as a separate component of other comprehensive income
(loss) in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Accumulated
other comprehensive loss resulting from foreign currency translation adjustments totaled $3.4 million and $3.8 million
as of June 28, 2014 and December 28, 2013, respectively, and is included in Total Stockholders’ Equity in the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. Assets and liabilities denominated in other than the functional currency of a
subsidiary are re-measured at rates of exchange on the balance sheet date. Resulting gains and losses on foreign

14



Edgar Filing: Cartesian, Inc. - Form 10-Q

currency transactions are included in the Company’s results of operations. Realized and unrealized exchange gains and
losses included in the results of operations were not significant during the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June
28, 2014 and June 29, 2013.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share - The Company calculates and presents earnings (loss) per share using a dual presentation
of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share. Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income
(loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. The weighted average number of
common shares outstanding excludes treasury shares held by the Company. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is
computed in the same manner except that the weighted average number of shares is increased for dilutive securities.
The following table illustrates the computation of basic and diluted EPS for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014.

For the Thirteen Weeks Ended June
28,2014

Income Shares Per-Share
(Numeratapenominator) Amount

Basic EPS
Net income available to common stockholders $87,000 7,899,000 $ 0.01

Effect of Dilutive Securities

Warrants - 210,000
Stock Options - 5,000
Non-vested shares - 26,000
Diluted EPS

Income available to common stockholders $87,000 8,140,000 $ 0.01

In accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 260, "Earnings per Share," the Company uses the treasury stock
method for calculating the dilutive effect of employee stock options, non-vested shares and warrants. The employee
stock options, non-vested shares and warrants will have a dilutive effect under the treasury stock method only when
average market value of the underlying Company common stock during the respective period exceeds the assumed
proceeds. For share-based payment awards with a performance condition, the Company must first use the guidance on
contingently issuable shares in FASB ASC 260-10 to determine whether the awards should be included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share for the reporting period. For all non-vested performance-based awards, the
Company determines the number of shares, if any, that would be issuable at the end of the reporting period if the end
of the reporting period were the end of the contingency period. In applying the treasury stock method, assumed
proceeds include the amount, if any, the employee must pay upon exercise, the amount of compensation cost for
future services that the Company has not yet recognized, and the amount of tax benefits, if any, that would be credited
to additional paid-in capital assuming exercise of the options and the vesting of non-vested shares. The Company has
excluded the effect of 308,403 stock options in the calculation of diluted income per share for the thirteen weeks
ended June 28, 2014 as the effect would have been anti-dilutive. For the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and
the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013, the Company has not included the effect of stock options and
non-vested shares in the calculation of diluted loss per share as it reported a net loss for these periods and the effect
would have been anti-dilutive.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements - In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“FASB ASU 2014-09”). This standard update clarifies the principles for
recognizing revenue and develops a common revenue standard for U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) and International Financial Reporting Standards. The standard update intends to provide a more robust
framework for addressing revenue issues; improve comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities,
industries, jurisdictions, and capital markets; and provide more useful information to users of financial statements
through improved disclosure requirements. Upon adoption of this standard update, we expect that the allocation and
timing of revenue recognition will be impacted. The provisions of FASB ASU 2014-09 are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period, and are
to be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect recognized as
of the date of adoption. Early application is not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this
standard update will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-12, Compensation—Stock Compensation:
Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide That a Performance Target Could Be
Achieved after the Requisite Service Period (“FASB ASU 2014-12”). The standard update resolves the diverse
accounting treatment for these share-based payments by requiring that a performance target that affects vesting and
that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. The requisite service
period ends when the employee can cease rendering service and still be eligible to vest in the award if the performance
target is achieved. The provisions of FASB ASU 2014-12 are effective for annual periods and interim periods within
those annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Earlier adoption is permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact that this standard update will have on its consolidated financial statements.

2. Strategic Alliance and Investment by Elutions, Inc.

On February 25, 2014, the Company entered into an investment agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) with Elutions,
Inc. ("Elutions"), a provider of operational business intelligence solutions. Under the Investment Agreement, the
Company agreed to issue and sell shares of common stock to Elutions and to issue stock purchase warrants to

Elutions, and the parties agreed that a subsidiary of Elutions would loan funds to a subsidiary of the Company. On
March 18, 2014, the Company and Elutions completed the closing (the "Closing") of the transactions contemplated
under the Investment Agreement.

16
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At the Closing, (a) the Company issued and sold 609,756 shares of common stock to Elutions at a price of $3.28 per
share, for an aggregate purchase price of $2,000,000, (b) the Company's subsidiary, Cartesian Limited, issued a
promissory note (the "Note") payable to Elutions Capital Ventures S.a r.1, a subsidiary of Elutions, in an aggregate
original principal amount of $3,268,664, payable in equivalent Great Britain Pounds Sterling, and the Company issued
to Elutions a Common Stock Purchase Warrant (Tracking) related to the Note to purchase 996,544 shares of common
stock of the Company for $3.28 per share (the "Tracking Warrant"), and (c¢) the Company issued to Elutions a
Common Stock Purchase Warrant (Commercial Incentive) pursuant to which Elutions can earn the right to purchase
up to 3,400,000 shares of common stock of the Company at prices ranging from $3.85 per share to $4.85 per share
based on the Company's financial results related to certain customer contracts obtained jointly by the Company and
Elutions (the "Incentive Warrant"). The Incentive Warrant and the Tracking Warrant are referred to collectively below
as the "Warrants".

Promissory Note

The Note issued at Closing by the Company's subsidiary, Cartesian Limited, in the aggregate original principal

amount of $3,268,664, bears interest at the rate of 7.825% per year, payable monthly, and matures on March 18, 2019.
The Note must be redeemed by Cartesian Limited upon notification by the holder at any time (the “Holder Redemption
Option”) and may be prepaid by Cartesian Limited after 18 months if the trading price of the Company's common stock
exceeds $5.50 per share for a specified period of time and may be prepaid by Cartesian Limited at any time after 30
months. The obligations of Cartesian Limited under the Note are guaranteed by the Company pursuant to a Guaranty
entered into by the Company at Closing and are secured by certain assets relating to client contracts involving

Elutions pursuant to a Security Agreement entered into by the Company and Elutions at Closing. Amounts

outstanding under the Note may be applied to the exercise price of the Company's common stock under the Tracking
Warrant. Upon occurrence of an event of default, the Note would bear interest at 9.825% per year and could be
declared immediately due and payable.

Tracking Warrant

Under the Tracking Warrant, Elutions may acquire 996,544 shares of common stock of the Company for $3.28 per
share at any time and from time to time through March 18, 2020. The Company may require Elutions to exercise or
forfeit the Tracking Warrant at any time (i) after 18 months if the trading price of the Company's common stock
exceeds $5.50 per share for a specified period of time and the Company meets certain cash and working capital
thresholds and (ii) after 30 months if the Company meets certain cash and working capital thresholds. To the extent
amounts are outstanding under the Note, Elutions and the Company (if the Company is requiring exercise of the
Tracking Warrant by Elutions as described above) may offset such amounts against the exercise price for shares of
common stock acquired under the Tracking Warrant.

Incentive Warrant
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Under the Incentive Warrant, Elutions can earn the right to purchase up to 3,400,000 shares of common stock of the
Company at prices ranging from $3.85 per share to $4.85 per share based on the Company's financial results as
described below. The Incentive Warrant expires on March 18, 2020. The right to exercise the Incentive Warrant to
acquire shares is subject to satisfaction of certain performance conditions based on revenues or cash received by the
Company under customer contracts acquired jointly with Elutions through a five-year period from March 18, 2014
until March 18, 2019. The Incentive Warrant may vest upon satisfaction of the performance conditions during the
five-year period. The number of shares of common stock for which the Incentive Warrant may become exercisable
during each year in the five-year period under the vesting provisions is determined by dividing four percent of such
revenues and cash recognized or received by the Company in such year by the warrant exercise price per share for that
year. In addition, the right to acquire shares may vest at the end of the five-year period for contracts that have been
signed and with respect to which revenues are expected to be earned or cash is expected to be received after the end of
the five-year period. The exercise price increases $0.25 per year for shares earned in each year of the five-year period
and is payable in cash, provided that Elutions has the right to utilize a cashless exercise procedure to acquire shares of
common stock under the Incentive Warrant for a limited period of time each year after the right to acquire such shares
vests. Any shares utilized to exercise such cashless exercise right will not reduce the maximum number of shares that
may be earned and acquired under the Incentive Warrant.

Additional Warrant Provisions

Each of the Warrants has economic anti-dilution protection provisions which provide for adjustments to the exercise
price and the number of shares of common stock which may be acquired pursuant to the Warrants in the event of
issuances of shares of common stock by the Company at a price less than the 30-day volume weighted average trading
price at the time of issuance, subject to a number of exceptions. Each of the Warrants also permits Elutions (subject to
certain exceptions) to purchase shares in future equity offerings made by the Company on a pro rata basis to all
stockholders, with such participation right based upon the maximum number of shares that may be purchased under
the Warrant.

Registration Rights

At Closing, the Company and Elutions entered into a Registration Rights Agreement (the "Registration Rights
Agreement"), pursuant to which the Company has obligations to register for resale the shares of common stock issued
under the Investment Agreement and the Warrants. Under the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company granted
certain piggyback registration rights to Elutions and agreed to file and maintain a resale shelf registration statement for
the benefit of Elutions. The resale shelf registration was filed with the SEC on August 12, 2014.

Accounting Treatment
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The Company measured the fair value of the instruments issued in the transaction as of the closing date, March 18,
2014, as follows:

Fair value of Promissory Note $3,181,000
Fair value of the Holder Redemption Option 277,000

Fair value of shares issued 2,622,000
Fair value of Tracking Warrant 1,259,000
Total fair value of consideration given $7,339,000

The fair value of the shares issued was determined using the stock price on the date of grant. The fair value of the
Note, the Holder Redemption Option and the Tracking Warrant were determined using a binomial lattice model. The
model requires the following inputs: (i) price of the Company’s common stock; (ii) exercise price of the Tracking
Warrant; (iii) the expected life of the instrument or derivative; (iv) risk-free interest rate; (v) estimated dividend yield,
and (vi) estimated stock volatility. Assumptions used in the calculation require significant management judgment.
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The following table sets forth the Level 3 inputs to the binomial lattice model that were used to determine the fair
value of the Note, the Holder Redemption Option, and the Tracking Warrant:

;(J)I;Z 28, Issuance Date
Common stock price $4.28 $4.30
Dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 %
Exercise price of Tracking Warrant $3.28 $3.28
Expected term 2.5 years 2.5 years
Risk-free interest rate 1.5 % 1.6 %
Estimated stock volatility 45.0 % 354 %

In addition, the Company determined that the provision of the Note that permits Cartesian Limited to prepay the Note
after 18 months if the trading price of the Company's common stock exceeds $5.50 per share for a specified period of
time is an embedded derivative asset that requires bifurcation (the “Issuer Call Option”). The Company measured the
fair value of the Issuer Call Option using a binomial lattice model. As of March 18, 2014 and June 28, 2014, the fair
value of the Issuer Call Option was determined to be immaterial.

The Holder Redemption Option has been determined to be an embedded derivative liability that must be bifurcated
and recorded as a liability. In addition, the Company concluded that the Tracking Warrant required liability
classification upon issuance. The Holder Redemption Option and Tracking Warrant liabilities were recorded at fair
value on the Closing date and as of March 29, 2014, with changes in the fair value recognized in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Because the vesting of the Incentive
Warrant is contingent on future services to be provided by Elutions and the achievement of performance conditions by
Elutions, the Company has determined that the fair value of the Incentive Warrant should be recognized as an expense
over the future periods during which such Warrant is earned by Elutions. On May 8, 2014, the Company and Elutions
agreed to amend the Investment Agreement and amend and restate the outstanding Incentive Warrant and Tracking
Warrant. The purpose of the amendments was to clarify the intent of certain anti-dilution provisions contained in the
instruments. As a result of the amendments and effective on the amendment date, both the Incentive Warrant and
Tracking Warrant will thereafter be accounted for as equity. The fair value of the Tracking Warrant was reclassified
from liability to equity status during the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014. The fair value of the Tracking Warrant,
included in Liability for Derivatives within Current Liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet,
decreased approximately $252,000 between March 29, 2014 and the date of the amendment. This decrease in fair
value was recognized as Other Income during the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014. As of May 8, 2014, the fair
value of the Tracking Warrant was approximately $1.0 million and was reclassified from Liability for Derivatives
within Current Liabilities to Stockholders’ Equity. Because the vesting of the Incentive Warrant is contingent on future
services to be provided by Elutions and the achievement of performance conditions by Elutions, the Incentive Warrant
has zero fair value as of March 18, 2014, May 8, 2014, and June 28, 2014. The fair value of the Incentive Warrant
when earned will be recorded to equity in the future periods during which such warrants are earned by Elutions. The
Holder Redemption Option continues to be recorded at fair value as of June 28, 2014, with changes in the fair value
recognized in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
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The proceeds from the transaction were $5,269,000 and were allocated to the instruments as reflected in the table
below. The proceeds were allocated to the Holder Redemption Option and the Tracking Warrant based on the fair
values of the liabilities. The remaining fair value was allocated to the Note and the shares issued based on their
relative fair values.

Embedded Holder Redemption Option derivative liability $277,000
Tracking Warrant liability 1,259,000
Total proceeds allocated to liabilities based on fair values  $1,536,000

Promissory Note $2,004,000
Shares issued 1,729,000
Total proceeds allocated based on relative fair values $3,733,000
Total proceeds allocated $5,269,000

There was a debt discount as a result of the relative fair values of the instruments and the allocation of proceeds to the
instruments and derivative.

Face amount of Promissory Note $3,269,000
Proceeds allocated to Promissory Note 2,004,000
Debt discount $1,265,000

Amortization of the debt discount was $1,265,000 during the thirteen weeks ended March 29, 2014. The discount was
recognized as Other Expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) at the
Closing due to the fact that the Note may be called by the holder at any time. There was no amortization of the debt
discount during the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014.

In addition, the Company incurred expenses in the amount of $120,000 and $512,000, respectively during the thirteen
and twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, related to the transaction. Transaction costs were allocated between the
liability and equity components based on the proportion of the fair value of each component to total proceeds at
issuance. Transaction costs of $82,000 and $345,000, respectively, were allocated to liabilities during the thirteen and
twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014; $38,000 and $167,000, respectively, were allocated to equity during the
thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014. The transaction costs allocated to liabilities are treated as debt
issuance costs and were recognized as Other Expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) at the Closing or in the subsequent period incurred due to the fact that the Note may be
called by the holder at any time. The transaction costs allocated to equity were treated as equity issuance costs and
reduced equity at the time of issuance.

The Company measures the Holder Redemption Option at fair value on a recurring basis and recognizes transfers, if
any, within the fair value hierarchy at the end of the fiscal quarter in which the change in circumstances that caused
the transfer occurred. There have been no transfers between Level 1, 2 or 3 liabilities during the thirteen or twenty-six
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The Company has classified the Holder Redemption Option as a Level 3 liability. The Company reassesses the fair
value of this liability on a quarterly basis. Based on that assessment, the Company recognized increases of $124,000
and $108,000, respectively, in the fair value of this liability during the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 28,
2014.

To determine the fair value of the Holder Redemption Option, management evaluates assumptions that require
significant judgment. Changes in certain inputs to the valuation model, including our period end stock price and stock
volatility, can have a significant impact on the estimated fair value. The fair value recorded for the Holder
Redemption Option may vary significantly from period to period. This variability may result in the actual liability for
a period either above or below the estimates recorded in our consolidated financial statements, resulting in significant
fluctuations in other income (expense) as a result of the corresponding non-cash gain or loss recorded.

As of June 28, 2014, liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis consist of the following (in thousands):

Quoted prices in  Significant other  Significant other
active markets ~ observable inputs unobservable inputs
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Holder Redemption Option $385 - - $ 385

The following table summarizes changes to the fair value of the Tracking Warrant and Holder Redemption Option,
which are Level 3 liabilities (in thousands):

Trackin Holder
£ Redemption Total
Warrant .
Options

Fair value at Closing, March 18, 2014 $1,259 $ 277 $1,536
Total unrealized (gains) losses included in Other Expense in the Condensed 219 ) 108 a1 )
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Conversion of Tracking Warrant to equity award (1,040 ) - (1,040)
Fair value at June 28, 2014 $- $ 385 $385

3. Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 are as follows (in
thousands):

North

America EMEA Total
Balance as of December 28, 2013 $3,947 $4,278 $8,225
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates - 162 162
Balance as of June 28, 2014 $3,947 $4,440 $8,387

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment on an annual basis on the last day of the first fiscal month of the
fourth quarter and whenever events or circumstances indicate that these assets may be impaired. The Company
performs its impairment testing for goodwill in accordance with FASB ASC 350, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other.”
Management determined that there were no events or changes in circumstances during the thirteen or twenty-six
weeks ended June 28, 2014 which indicated that goodwill needed to be tested for impairment during the period.

The Company reviews long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets might not be recoverable in accordance with the
provisions of FASB ASC 360, “Property, Plant and Equipment.” Management determined that there were no events or
changes in circumstances during the thirteen or twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 which indicated that long-lived
assets needed to be reviewed for impairment during the period.

4. Share-Based Compensation

The Company issues stock option awards and non-vested share awards under its share-based compensation plans. The
key provisions of the Company's share-based compensation plans are described in Note 3 to the Company's
consolidated financial statements included in the 2013 Form 10-K.

The Company recognized no income tax benefits related to share-based compensation arrangements during the
thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013.

10
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1998 Equity Incentive Plan

Stock Options

A summary of the option activity under the Company's Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as of June
28, 2014 and changes during the twenty-six weeks then ended is presented below:

Weighted
Shares Average

Exercise

Price
Outstanding at December 28, 2013 265,093 $ 10.50
Granted 70,000 $3.98
Forfeited/cancelled (31,790 ) $ 10.62
Outstanding at June 28, 2014 303,303 $8.98

Options vested and expected to vest at June 28, 2014 288,803 $ 9.23

Options exercisable at June 28, 2014 233,303 $ 10.48

The Company granted 70,000 stock option awards during the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, while no stock
option awards were granted during the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. During the thirteen and twenty-six
weeks ended June 28, 2014 the Company recorded $24,000 and $28,000, respectively, of stock-based compensation
expense in connection with stock option awards while no expense was recorded for stock-based compensation in
connection with stock option awards during the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. As of June 28,
2014, there was $111,000 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, related to
stock option awards, and this unrecognized expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 34
months. As of December 28, 2013, there was no unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock
option awards.

Non-vested Shares

Service-Based Non-vested Share Awards - A summary of the status of service-based non-vested share awards issued
under the Company’s Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as of June 28, 2014 and changes during the
twenty-six weeks then ended is presented below:

25



Edgar Filing: Cartesian, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value per
share
Outstanding at December 28, 2013 - $ -

Granted 81,000 $ 3.93
Outstanding at June 28, 2014 81,000 $ 3.93

Shares

On March 10, 2014, the Company granted 81,000 shares of non-vested stock that vest solely based on employee
service. These shares cliff vest after a one-year service period that commenced on the date of the grant.

The Company’s service-based non-vested share awards are valued at the date of grant based on the closing market
price of the Company’s common stock, and are expensed using the straight-line method over the requisite service
period (which is the vesting period of the award). During the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 the
Company recorded $80,000 and $97,000, respectively, of stock-based compensation expense in connection with
service-based non-vested share awards. During the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013 the Company
recorded $61,000 and $122,000, respectively, of stock-based compensation expense in connection with

service-based non-vested share awards. As of June 28, 2014, there is an estimated $225,000 of unrecognized
stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, related to service-based non-vested share awards, and
this unrecognized expense is expected to be recognized over a period of 8 months. As of December 28, 2013, there
was no unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to service-based non-vested share awards.

Performance-Based Non-vested Share Awards - A summary of the status of performance-based non-vested share
awards issued under the Company’s Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as of June 28, 2014 and
changes during the twenty-six weeks then ended is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares Fair Value per
share
Outstanding at December 28, 2013 800,000 $ 3.14
Granted 40,000 $ 3.93
Vested (79,042) $ 3.14
Outstanding at June 28, 2014 760,958 $ 3.18

On March 10, 2014, the Company granted 40,000 shares of non-vested stock that vest in proportion to the ratio that
the Company's "Cumulative Net Non-GAAP EBITDA" achieved over a three-year performance period compares to
the Cumulative Net Non-GAAP EBITDA goal of $10.5 million. The first potential vesting date is the Company's
earnings release date for its 2015 first fiscal quarter and each subsequent potential vesting date is each of the
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Company's quarterly earnings release dates thereafter through the release date for the first quarter of 2017. Shares not
vested as of the release date for the first quarter of 2017 are forfeited. Except for termination of employment in certain
circumstances following a change of control, the unvested portion of an award is forfeited upon any termination of
employment. Under the terms of an award, vesting is partially accelerated and the award is converted to a time-vested
award upon a change of control of the Company.

11
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Stock-based compensation cost for performance-based non-vested share awards is measured at the grant date based on
the fair value of shares expected to be earned at the end of the performance period, based on the closing market price
of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant, and is recognized as expense using the straight-line method over
the performance period based upon the probable number of shares expected to vest. The Company estimates and
excludes compensation cost related to awards not expected to vest based upon estimated forfeitures. During the
thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, the Company recorded $159,000 and $309,000, respectively, of
stock-based compensation expense in connection with performance-based non-vested share awards. During the
thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013, the Company recorded $170,000 of stock-based compensation
expense in connection with performance-based non-vested share awards. As of June 28, 2014 and December 28, 2013,
there was an estimated $1.8 million and $1.9 million, respectively, of unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense, net of estimated forfeitures, related to performance-based non-vested share awards. The unrecognized
compensation cost at June 28, 2014 related to performance-based non-vested share awards is expected to be
recognized over a period of 33 months.

2000 Supplemental Stock Plan

A summary of the option activity under the Company's 2000 Supplemental Stock Plan (the "Supplemental Stock
Plan") as of June 28, 2014 and changes during the twenty-six weeks then ended is presented below:

Weighted
Shares Avera.ge
Exercise
Price
Outstanding at December 28, 2013 82,600 $11.33
Forfeited/cancelled - -
Outstanding at June 28, 2014 82,600 $11.33

Options vested and exercisable at June 28,2014 82,600 $ 11.33

The Supplemental Stock Plan expired on May 23, 2010. No new awards will be issued pursuant to the plan. The
outstanding awards issued pursuant to the Supplemental Stock Plan remain subject to the terms of the Supplemental
Stock Plan following expiration of the plan.

5. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information
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Accrued payroll, bonuses and related expenses and Other accrued liabilities consist of the following (amounts in
thousands):

June 28, 2014 December 28, 2013

Accrued payroll, bonuses and related expenses

Accrued payroll $ 1,533 $ 1,308
Accrued bonuses 1,698 1,774
Accrued payroll taxes 566 580
Other 896 587

$ 4,693 $ 4,249
Other accrued liabilities
Sales and value-added taxes payable $ 1,016 $ 889
Other 753 742

$ 1,769 $ 1,631

6. Business Segments and Major Customers

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2014, the Company was internally reorganized to better align the Company’s
go-to-market and service delivery capabilities and to maximize opportunities in serving telecommunications, media
and technology customers. The three former operating segments within North America (North America Cable and
Broadband, North America Telecom and Strategy) were integrated into one operating segment. The EMEA segment is
a single reportable, operating segment. In addition, beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2014 management of
the Company’s United Kingdom strategy practice has been moved from the United States to London and is reflected in
the EMEA segment. As a result of this internal realignment, corresponding segment information for prior periods has
been restated to conform to the current reportable segment presentation.

The Company identifies its segments based on the way management organizes the Company to assess performance

and make operating decisions regarding the allocation of resources. In accordance with the criteria in FASB ASC 280
"Segment Reporting," the Company has concluded it has three reportable segments: the North America segment, the
EMEA segment and the Strategic Alliances segment. The North America and EMEA segments are both single
reportable, operating segments that encompass the Company’s operational, technology and software consulting
services inside of North America and outside of North America, respectively. Both reportable segments offer
management consulting, custom developed software, and technical services. The Strategic Alliances reportable
segment is a single, reportable segment that includes the Company’s world-wide commercial activities undertaken with
third party service or solutions providers.

12

29



Edgar Filing: Cartesian, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Management evaluates segment performance based upon income (loss) from operations, excluding share-based
compensation (benefits), depreciation and intangibles amortization. There were no inter-segment revenues during the
thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 or June 29, 2013. In addition, in its administrative division,
entitled “Not Allocated to Segments,” the Company accounts for non-operating activity and the costs of providing
corporate and other administrative services to all the segments. Summarized financial information concerning the
Company’s reportable segments is shown in the following table (amounts in thousands):

Not
Strategic ~ Allocated

North America EMEA ) Total
Alliances to
Segments
As of and for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28,
2014:
Revenues $ 16,234 $17,423 $33,657
Income (loss) from operations 3,975 3,321  $ (522 ) $(8,215 ) (1,441)
Total assets $ 5,853 $10,063 $ 757 $31,275 $47,948
For the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014:
Revenues $ 8,260 $9,160 $17,420
Income (loss) from operations 2,196 1,744  $ 377 ) $(5,012 ) (1,449)
As of the fiscal year ended December 28, 2013
Total assets $ 4,522 $7,194 $25,108 $36,824
As of and for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29,
2013:
Revenues $ 17,393 $10,654 $28,047
Income (loss) from operations 4,178 2,177 $ 247 ) $(6,680 ) (572 )
Total assets $ 6,821 $5,281 $21,718  $33,820
For the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013:
Revenues $ 8,601 $5,436 $14,037
Income (loss) from operations 2,052 1,197 $ (120 ) $(3,563 ) (434 )

Segment assets, regularly reviewed by management as part of its overall assessment of the segments’ performance,
include both billed and unbilled trade accounts receivable, net of allowances, and certain other assets, if applicable.
Assets not assigned to segments include cash and cash equivalents, current and non-current investments, property and
equipment, goodwill and intangible assets and deferred tax assets, excluding deferred tax assets recognized on
accounts receivable reserves, which are assigned to their segments.

In accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 280-10, revenues earned in the United States and internationally
based on the location where the services are performed are shown in the following table (amounts in thousands):
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For the Thirteen Weeks For the Twenty-six Weeks

Ended Ended

June 28, June 29, June 28, June 29,

2014 2013 2014 2013
United States $ 8,198 $ 8,580 $ 16,024 $ 17,491
International:
United Kingdom 8,540 5,032 16,295 9,391
Other 682 425 1,338 1,165
Total $ 17,420 $ 14,037 $ 33,657 $ 28,047

Major customers in terms of significance to Cartesian’s revenues (i.e. in excess of 10% of revenues) and accounts
receivable were as follows (amounts in thousands):

Revenues
For the . For the twenty-six weeks
twenty-six weeks
ended June 28,
2014 ended June 29, 2013
North = pypa  North EMEA
America America
Customer A $11,746 $ 3,963
Customer B $5,832 $ 6,556
Customer C $2,388 $ 3,678
Revenues
For the thirteen For the thirteen weeks
weeks
ended June 28,
2014 ended June 29, 2013
North. North. EMEA
America America
Customer A $6,042 $ 2,425
Customer B $3,002 $ 3,197
Customer C $1,138 $ 1,845
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Accounts Receivable
As of As of
June 28,  June 29,
2014 2013
Customer A $ 6,873 $ 2,007
Customer B $ 2,218 $ 2,082
Customer C $ 614 $ 2,043

Revenues from the Company’s ten most significant customers accounted for approximately 83.0% and 83.9% of
revenues during the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, respectively. Revenues from the Company’s
ten most significant customers accounted for approximately 84.8% and 84.4% of revenues during the thirteen and
twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013, respectively.

7. Income Taxes

During the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014, the Company recorded an income tax benefit of $1,553,000 while an
income tax provision of $23,000 was recognized for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. During the twenty-six
weeks ended June 28, 2014, the Company recorded an income tax benefit of $1,524,000 while an income tax
provision of $39,000 was recognized for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. The income tax benefits for both
the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 is primarily due to a $1,582,000 benefit recognized in
connection with the release of the valuation allowance on the Company’s international deferred income tax assets
partially offset by deferred taxes recognized on goodwill amortized for income tax purposes but not for financial
reporting purposes. The tax provisions for both the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013 are due to
deferred taxes recognized on goodwill amortized for income tax purposes but not for financial reporting purposes.

The Company has reserved all of its domestic net deferred tax assets as of June 28, 2014 and all of its domestic and
international net deferred tax assets as of December 28, 2013 with a valuation allowance in accordance with the
provisions of FASB ASC 740, “Income Taxes," which requires an estimation of the recoverability of the recorded
income tax asset balances. As of June 28, 2014, the Company has recorded $31.5 million of valuation allowances
attributable to its domestic net deferred tax assets.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2009, the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against both its domestic
and international deferred tax assets, having determined it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would
not be realized. The determination of recording and releasing valuation allowances against deferred tax assets is made,
in part, pursuant to the Company’s assessment as to whether it is more likely than not that the Company will generate
sufficient future taxable income against which benefits of the deferred tax assets may or may not be realized.
Significant judgment is required in making estimates regarding the Company’s ability to generate income in future
periods. The Company continued to maintain full valuation allowances on its domestic and international deferred tax
assets through the first quarter of 2014 as there was insufficient positive evidence to overcome the substantial negative
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evidence of cumulative losses in periods preceding 2014.

In the second quarter of 2014, the Company reached the conclusion that it was appropriate to release the valuation
allowance reserves against its international deferred tax assets due to the sustained positive operating performance of
its UK operations and the availability of expected future taxable income. The Company achieved a cumulative
three-year positive pre-tax book income position within its UK operations. The Company also considered forecasts of
future operating results and utilization of its UK net operating losses, which do not expire. As a result, the Company
recorded a $1.6 million reversal of its deferred tax asset valuation allowance reserves in the second quarter of 2014
after determining it was more likely than not that its international deferred tax assets would be realized. However, as
mentioned above, a full valuation allowance remains in place for the Company’s domestic deferred tax assets at June
28,2014.

The Company analyzes its uncertain tax positions pursuant to the provisions of FASB ASC 740 “Income Taxes.” There
was no material activity related to the liability for uncertain tax positions during the thirteen and twenty-six weeks
ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, and the Company has determined it does not have any material uncertain tax
positions requiring reserves at June 28, 2014.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and in various states
and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or
non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2000. As of June 28, 2014, the Company has no
income tax examinations in process.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

On January 10, 2012, Richard P. Nespola, the Company’s former chief executive officer, former chairman of the board
and a former member of the Company’s Board of Directors, filed an action, Richard P. Nespola v. The Management
Network Group, Inc., against the Company with the American Arbitration Association. In the action, Mr. Nespola
claimed, among other things, that the Company breached his employment agreement and an implied covenant of good
faith and fair dealing by: (i) improperly deciding not to renew his employment agreement, and (ii) subsequently
deciding to terminate his employment for cause.

On March 3, 2014, the arbitrator issued a first interim award in this matter, finding that Mr. Nespola's employment
was terminated without cause and that Mr. Nespola is entitled to severance under his employment agreement. Based
on the first interim ruling, the Company recorded a liability of $1.5 million for contractual severance at December 28,
2013 related to this action.
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On July 14, 2014, the arbitrator issued a second interim award in this matter, finding that Mr. Nespola was entitled to:
(1) a severance benefits award of $1,468,584; (2) attorneys’ fees and costs; and (3) pre-judgment interest. In the third
phase of the proceedings, the arbitrator will determine the amount of Mr. Nespola’s award for (i) attorneys’ fees and
costs; and (ii) pre-judgment interest. Based on the second interim award, the Company believes it is probable that a
liability exists for attorneys’ fees and costs and pre-judgment interest. During the 13-weeks ended June 28, 2014, the
Company recorded an additional liability of $1.4 million related to attorneys’ fees and costs and pre-judgment interest.
As of June 28, 2014, the Company has recorded a liability of $2.9 million in Accrued Severance Liability and Related
Costs on the Consolidated Balance Sheet for the amount of severance, attorneys’ fees and costs, and pre-judgment
interest which will likely be payable pursuant to the first and second interim awards. The amount of attorneys’ fees and
costs and pre-judgment interest that may be awarded by the arbitrator could be materially higher than the liability
recorded for such items. We cannot currently estimate the range of reasonably possible loss in excess of the accrual.

14
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In addition, the Company may become involved in various legal and administrative actions arising in the normal
course of business. These could include actions brought by taxing authorities challenging the employment status of
consultants utilized by the Company. In addition, future customer bankruptcies could result in additional claims on
collected balances for professional services near the bankruptcy filing date. The resolution of any of such actions,
claims, or the matters described above may have an impact on the financial results for the period in which they occur.

9. Common Stock Repurchase Program

On February 27, 2014, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved a common stock repurchase
program under which the Company may repurchase up to $2 million of Company common stock through June 30,
2015. Under the program, repurchases may be made by the Company from time to time in the open market or through
privately negotiated transactions depending on market conditions, share price and other factors. The stock repurchase
program may be modified or discontinued at any time by the Board of Directors. The Company expects to fund
repurchases through cash on hand, future cash flow from operations and future borrowings. In order to facilitate
repurchases, the Company entered into a Rule 10b5-1 plan, which permits stock repurchases when the Company
might otherwise be precluded from doing so under insider trading laws or because of self-imposed trading blackout
periods. As of June 28, 2014, no stock repurchases have been made under this plan.

10. Subsequent Events

Arbitration with Former Executive

As previously disclosed, Richard P. Nespola, the Company’s former chief executive officer, former chairman of the
board and a former member of the Company’s Board of Directors, filed an action Richard P. Nespola v. The
Management Network Group, Inc., against the Company with the American Arbitration Association. As previously
disclosed, on March 3, 2014, the arbitrator issued a first interim award in this matter, finding that Mr. Nespola's
employment was terminated without cause and that Mr. Nespola is entitled to severance under his employment
agreement.

On July 14, 2014, the arbitrator issued a second interim award in this matter, finding that Mr. Nespola was entitled to:
(1) a severance benefits award of $1,468,584; (2) attorneys’ fees and costs; and (3) pre-judgment interest. In the third
phase of the proceedings, the arbitrator will determine the amount of Mr. Nespola’s award for (i) attorneys’ fees and
costs; and (ii) pre-judgment interest. Based on the interim rulings, the Company believes it is probable that a liability
for contractual severance, attorneys' fees and costs, and pre-judgment interest exists at June 28, 2014 related to this
action. We have recorded a liability of $2.9 million for the amounts which may be payable as a result of the arbitration
proceedings. The Company has recorded a liability of $2.9 million in Accrued Severance Liability and Related Costs
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such on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 28, 2014, for the amount of severance and related costs which will
likely be payable under the terms of Mr. Nespola’s employment agreement. The amount of attorneys’ fees and costs and
pre-judgment interest that may be awarded by the arbitrator could be materially higher than the liability of $1.4

million recorded for such items. See Note 8, Commitments and Contingencies.

ITEM MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
2. OF OPERATIONS

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements. In addition to historical information, this quarterly
report contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements of
plans and objectives, statements of future economic performance or financial projections, statements of assumptions
underlying such statements, and statements of the Company's or management's intentions, hopes, beliefs, expectations
or predictions of the future. Forward-looking statements can often be identified by the use of forward-looking
terminology, such as "believes," "expects," "may," "should," "could," "intends," "plans," "estimates" or "anticipates,"
variations thereof or similar expressions. Certain risks and uncertainties could cause actual results to differ materially
from those reflected in such forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause a difference include, but are not
limited to, our ability to successfully implement the strategic relationship with Elutions, the final outcome of the
arbitration proceeding with our former chief executive officer, conditions in the industry sectors that we serve,
including the slowing of client decisions on proposals and project opportunities along with scope reduction of existing
projects, overall economic and business conditions, including the current economic slowdown, our ability to retain the
limited number of large clients that constitute a major portion of our revenues, our ability to protect client or Cartesian
data or information systems from security breaches and cyber-attacks, technological advances and competitive factors
in the markets in which we compete, and the factors discussed in the sections entitled "Cautionary Statement
Regarding Forward-Looking Information" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2013 (“2013 Form
10-K”). Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect
management's opinions only as of the date of this report. We undertake no obligation to revise, or publicly release the
results of any revision to, these forward-looking statements. Readers should carefully review the cautionary
statements contained in our 2013 Form 10-K and in other documents that we file from time to time with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

non nn nn

The following should be read in connection with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations as presented in our 2013 Form 10-K. In addition, on August 12, 2014 the Company filed with
the SEC a Current Report on Form 8-K to retrospectively revise the Company’s annual consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto that were initially filed with the SEC in the 2013 Form 10-K to reflect revisions to its
reportable segments that were made in the first quarter of fiscal year 2014. The retrospective revision to the
consolidated financial statements does not impact previously reported consolidated operating income (loss) from
operations, net income (loss), or earnings (loss) per share.

OVERVIEW
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Cartesian is among the leading providers of professional services and technical solutions to the global leaders in the
communications, digital media, and technology industries. We offer a fully integrated suite of consulting offerings
including strategy, organizational development, knowledge management, marketing, operational, and technology
consulting services. We have consulting experience with almost all major aspects of managing a global
communications company. Our portfolio of solutions includes proprietary methodologies and toolsets, deep industry
experience, and hands-on operational expertise and licensed software. These solutions assist clients in tackling
complex business problems.

15
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Our global investments in targeting the cable industry have re-positioned our business to better serve consolidating
telecommunications carriers and the converging global media and entertainment companies. The convergence of
communications with media and entertainment, the pace of technological change in the sector, and the consolidation
of large telecommunications carriers have required us to focus our strategy on serving our clients in both North
America and European markets, continuing to expand our offerings with software products and strengthening our
position within the large carriers and media and entertainment companies. Subject to the effects of cyclical economic
conditions, our efforts are helping us build what we believe is a more sustainable revenue model over the long-term,
which will enable us to expand our global presence. We continue to focus our efforts on identifying, adapting to and
capitalizing on the changing dynamics prevalent in the converging communications, media and entertainment
industries, as well as providing our wireless and IP services within the communications sector.

Strategic alliance partnerships are a key element of our strategy. To complement our focus on leveraging our
Ascertain software at the core of our offerings to build a more sustainable model, we also leverage third party
platforms. On February 25, 2014, we entered into a strategic alliance and Investment Agreement with Elutions, Inc.
("Elutions"), a provider of operational business intelligence solutions. The terms of the Investment Agreement are
detailed in Note 12, Subsequent Events, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8,
Consolidated Financial Statements, of the 2013 Form 10-K and in Note 2, Strategic Alliance and Investment by
Elutions, Inc., in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) included in Item 1,
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, of this report. With regard to the commercial relationship, Elutions is
an established firm and a leading provider of smart building and smart asset management solutions for energy
management. Elutions uniquely combines technology and expertise to enable a machine-to-machine automated
control and optimization of commercial and technical sites in a manner that can deliver significant energy savings
with existing building infrastructure by optimizing use. Elutions’ end-to-end solution includes web-enabled application
software, wireless and wireline networking hardware, energy management bureau services and engineering and
integration services. In the communications sector that we primarily serve, energy consumption is a large and often
sub-optimized component of operating costs and an area that continues to escalate as service providers invest in areas
like datacenters. We believe that, together with Elutions, our joint value proposition is compelling and involves energy
savings combined with operational intelligence and improvement with limited investment combined with a rapid
payback for our clients. We currently expect to be an exclusive partner to the communications sector in North
America for Elutions and also plan to have significant commercial activity in the UK and European markets. Initially
in the partnership, Cartesian expects to provide lead generation to Elutions, assist with sales and marketing activities,
prime contracts for Elutions with our clients, program manage the solution, and work with Elutions to deliver
additional energy savings and operational benefits through the term of each customer managed service contract.
Ultimately, Cartesian and Elutions intend to work jointly on evolving the product by utilizing joint software
capabilities and capacities. This relationship creates a new growth avenue for Cartesian that is closely adjacent to our
skill sets and leverages our existing client relationships.

Our financial results are affected by macroeconomic conditions, credit market conditions, and the overall level of
business confidence. Economic volatility has continued to impact our customer base and has resulted in continued
higher levels of unemployment, and significant employee layoffs and reductions in capital and operating expenditures
for some of our significant clients in the communications, media and entertainment sectors. We are also experiencing
greater pricing pressure and an increased need for enhanced return on investment for projects or added sharing of risk
and reward.
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Revenues are driven by the ability of our team to secure new project contracts and deliver those projects in a way that
adds value to our clients in terms of return on investment or assisting clients to address a need or implement change.
For the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014, revenues increased 24.1% to $17.4 million from $14.0 million for the
thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. For the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, revenues increased 20.0% to
$33.7 million from $28.0 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. For both the thirteen and twenty-six
week periods, the increase was driven primarily by improvements within the EMEA segment. Our international
revenues were approximately 52.4% of total revenues for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 as compared to
37.6% for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. Our revenues are denominated in multiple currencies and may
be impacted by currency rate fluctuations.

Generally our client relationships begin with a short-term engagement. Our sales strategy focuses on building
long-term relationships with both new and existing clients to gain additional engagements within existing accounts
and referrals for new clients. Strategic alliances with other companies are also used to sell services. We anticipate that
we will continue to pursue these marketing strategies in the future. The volume of work performed for specific clients
may vary from period to period and a major client from one period may not use our services or the same volume of
services in another period. In addition, clients generally may end their engagements with little or no penalty or notice.
If a client consulting engagement ends earlier than expected, we must re-deploy professional service personnel as any
resulting non-billable time could harm margins.

Cost of services consists primarily of compensation for consultants who are employees as well as fees paid to
independent contractor organizations and related expense reimbursements. Employee compensation includes certain
non-billable time, training, vacation time, benefits and payroll taxes. Gross margins are primarily impacted by the type
of consulting services provided; the size of service contracts and negotiated discounts; changes in our pricing policies
and those of competitors; utilization rates of consultants and independent subject matter experts; and employee and
independent contractor costs, which tend to be higher in a competitive labor market.

Gross margins were 36.5% in the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 compared to 37.3% in the twenty-six weeks
ended June 29, 2013. In general, the most significant items that impact our margins include the mix of project types,
utilization of personnel and competitive pricing decisions, including volume discounts.

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel salaries, bonuses, and related costs for direct client sales
efforts and marketing staff. We primarily use a relationship sales model in which partners, principals and senior
consultants generate revenues. In addition, sales and marketing expenses include costs associated with marketing
collateral, product development, trade shows and advertising. General and administrative expenses consist mainly of
costs for accounting, recruiting and staffing, information technology, personnel, insurance, rent and outside
professional services incurred in the normal course of business.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $13.7 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014
compared to $11.0 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. Selling, general and administrative expenses
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during the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 increased from the comparable 2013 period primarily due to an
additional $1.4 million accrued during the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 in connection with the arbitration
proceedings described in Note 8, Commitments and Contingencies, in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements (Unaudited), in addition to a $1.2 million increase in personnel related costs as we invest in our
alliance with Elutions and our software platform. As a percent of revenues, selling, general and administrative costs
during the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 were 40.7% (36.7% excluding arbitration costs), compared to 39.3%
during the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. We continue to evaluate selling, general and administrative
expenses in an effort to maintain an appropriate cost structure relative to revenue levels.

Other expense for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 are $1,570,000 compared with other income of $2,000
for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. The large increase in other expense during the twenty-six weeks ended
June 28, 2014 as compared with the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013 is driven by amortization associated with
the promissory note discount and certain transactions costs on the Elutions transaction which were expensed and
interest expense associated with the promissory note issued as part of the Elutions transaction. Partially offsetting this
increase in expense is income related to the change in fair value of the warrants and derivative liabilities that were also
issue as part of the Elutions transaction. See Note 2, Strategic Alliance and Investment by Elutions, Inc., in the Notes
to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited), included in Item 1, Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements, of this report.
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During the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, we recorded an income tax benefit of $1,524,000 while we
recorded an income tax provision of $39,000 for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. In the second quarter of
2014, we concluded that it was appropriate to release the valuation allowance reserves against our international
deferred tax assets due to the sustained positive operating performance of our UK operations and the availability of
expected future taxable income. As a result, we recorded a $1.6 million income tax benefit related to the reversal of
our deferred tax asset valuation allowance reserves.

We recorded net losses of $1.5 million and $0.6 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29,
2013, respectively. The increase in net loss for the 2014 period is primarily due to the accrual of costs related to the
arbitration proceedings with our former chief executive officer.

The rate of change in the communications industry, driving convergence of media and telecommunications,
consolidation of providers and expanded deployment of wireless capabilities have added both opportunity and
uncertainty for our clients. Consolidation within the sector tends to result in increased consolidation of competitors.
The supply chain divisions within larger clients, given sector consolidation, also tend to reduce the number of vendors
utilized and to negotiate volume programs with select preferred vendors. This activity could result in further price
reductions, fewer client projects, under-utilization of consultants, reduced operating margins and loss of market share.
Declines in our revenues can have a significant impact on our financial results. Although we have a flexible cost base
comprised primarily of employee and related costs, there is a lag in time required to scale the business appropriately if
revenues are reduced. In addition, our future revenues and operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter
based on the number, size and scope of projects in which we are engaged, the contractual terms and degree of
completion of such projects, any delays incurred in connection with a project, consultant utilization rates, general
economic conditions and other factors.

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $4.9 million during the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 due primarily
to a cash infusion of $5.3 million related to the issuance of a note payable and common stock in connection with the
Elutions transaction. At June 28, 2014, we had working capital of approximately $17.7 million.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

While the selection and application of any accounting policy may involve some level of subjective judgments and
estimates, we believe the following accounting policies are the most critical to our condensed consolidated financial
statements, potentially involve the most subjective judgments in their selection and application, and are the most
susceptible to uncertainties and changing conditions:

. Impairment of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets;
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. Revenue Recognition;

o Fair Value Measurement;

. Accounting for Income Taxes;

. Research and Development and Software Development Costs; and

. Share-based Compensation Expense.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets - As of June 28, 2014, we had $8.4 million in goodwill, which is
subject to periodic review for impairment. FASB ASC 350 “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other” requires an evaluation of
indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill annually and whenever events or circumstances indicate that such

assets may be impaired. The evaluation is conducted at the reporting unit level and compares the calculated fair value
of the reporting unit to its book value to determine whether impairment has been deemed to occur. As of June 28,

2014, we had approximately $3.9 million and $4.5 million in goodwill allocated to the North America and EMEA
reporting units, respectively. Any impairment charge would be based on the most recent estimates of the

recoverability of the recorded goodwill. If the remaining book value assigned to goodwill in an acquisition is higher
than the estimated fair value of the reporting unit, there is a requirement to write down these assets.

Fair value of our reporting units is determined using a combination of the income approach and the market approach.
The income approach uses a reporting unit's projection of estimated cash flows discounted using a weighted-average
cost of capital analysis that reflects current market conditions. We also consider the market approach to valuing our
reporting units utilizing revenue and EBITDA multiples. We compare the results of our overall enterprise valuation as
determined by the combination of the two approaches to our market capitalization. Significant management judgments
related to these approaches include:

Anticipated future cash flows and terminal value for each reporting unit - The income approach to
determining fair value relies on the timing and estimates of future cash flows, including an estimate of
terminal value. The projections use management's estimates of economic and market conditions over the

*  projected period including growth rates in revenues and estimates of expected changes in operating margins.
Our projections of future cash flows are subject to change as actual results are achieved that differ from
those anticipated. Because management frequently updates its projections, we would expect to identify on a
timely basis any significant differences between actual results and recent estimates.

$election of an appropriate discount rate - The income approach requires the selection of an appropriate discount rate,
which is based on a weighted average cost of capital analysis. The discount rate is affected by changes in short-term
interest rates and long-term yields as well as variances in the typical capital structure of marketplace participants. The
discount rate is determined based on assumptions that would be used by marketplace participants, and for that reason,
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the capital structure of selected marketplace participants was used in the weighted average cost of capital analysis.
Given the current volatile economic conditions, it is possible that the discount rate will fluctuate in the near term.

Selection of an appropriate multiple - The market approach requires the selection of an appropriate multiple to apply
to revenues or EBITDA based on comparable guideline company or transaction multiples. It is often difficult to
tdentify companies or transactions with a similar profile in regards to revenue, geographic operations, risk profile and
other factors. Given the current volatile economic conditions, it is possible that multiples of guideline companies will
fluctuate in the near term.
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In accordance with FASB ASC 360, "Property, Plant and Equipment," we use our best estimates based upon
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections to review for impairment of long-lived assets to be held and
used whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of our assets might not be
recoverable.

Revenue Recognition - We recognize revenues from time and materials consulting contracts in the period in which our
services are performed. We recognized $3.6 million and $4.9 million in revenues from time and materials contracts
during the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, respectively. We recognized $7.1 million and

$9.6 million in revenues from time and materials contracts during the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June
29, 2013, respectively. In addition to time and materials contracts, we also have fixed fee contracts. We recognize
revenues on milestone or deliverables-based fixed fee contracts and time and materials contracts not to exceed
contract price using the percentage of completion-like method described by FASB ASC 605-35, "Revenue
Recognition - Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts." For fixed fee contracts where services are not
based on providing deliverables or achieving milestones, we recognize revenues on a straight-line basis over the
period during which such services are expected to be performed. During the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 and
June 29, 2013, we recognized $13.8 million and $9.1 million in revenues on fixed fee contracts, respectively. During
the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, we recognized $26.6 million and $18.4 million in
revenues on fixed fee contracts, respectively. In connection with some fixed fee contracts, we receive payments from
customers that exceed recognized revenues. We record the excess of receipts from customers over recognized revenue
as deferred revenue. Deferred revenue is classified as a current liability to the extent it is expected to be earned within
twelve months from the date of the balance sheet.

The FASB ASC 605-35 percentage-of-completion-like methodology involves recognizing revenue using the
percentage of services completed, on a current cumulative cost to total cost basis, using a reasonably consistent profit
margin over the period. Due to the longer term nature of these projects, developing the estimates of costs often
requires significant judgment. Factors that must be considered in estimating the progress of work completed and
ultimate cost of the projects include, but are not limited to, the availability of labor and labor productivity, the nature
and complexity of the work to be performed, and the impact of delayed performance. If changes occur in delivery,
productivity or other factors used in developing the estimates of costs or revenues, we revise our cost and revenue
estimates, which may result in increases or decreases in revenues and costs, and such revisions are reflected in income
in the period in which the facts that give rise to that revision become known.

We also develop, install and support customer software in addition to our traditional consulting services. We
recognize revenues in connection with our software sales agreements under FASB ASC 985-605 “Software - Revenue
Recognition”, utilizing the percentage of completion-like method described in FASB ASC 605-35. These agreements
include software right-to-use licenses ("RTU's") and related customization and implementation services. Due to the
long-term nature of software implementation and the extensive software customization based on normal customer
specific requirements, both the RTU’s and implementation services are treated as a single element for revenue
recognition purposes.

44



Edgar Filing: Cartesian, Inc. - Form 10-Q

In addition to the professional services related to the customization and implementation of our software, we may also
provide post-contract support ("PCS") services, including technical support and maintenance services as well as other
professional services not essential to the functionality of the software. For those contracts that include PCS service
arrangements which are not essential to the functionality of the software solution, we separate the FASB ASC 605-35
software services and PCS services utilizing the multiple-element arrangement model prescribed by FASB ASC
605-25, "Revenue Recognition - Multiple-Element Arrangements." FASB ASC 605-25 addresses the accounting
treatment for an arrangement to provide the delivery or performance of multiple products and/or services where the
delivery of a product or system or performance of services may occur at different points in time or over different
periods of time. We utilize FASB ASC 605-25 to separate the PCS service elements and allocate total contract
consideration to the contract elements based on the relative fair value of those elements utilizing PCS renewal terms
as evidence of fair value. Revenues from PCS services are recognized ratably on a straight-line basis over the term of
the support and maintenance agreement.

Fair Value Measurement - The Company utilizes the methods of fair value measurement as described in FASB ASC
820, “Fair Value Measurements” to value its financial assets and liabilities, including the financial instruments issued
in the transaction described in Note 2, Strategic Alliance and Investment by Elutions, Inc. As defined in FASB ASC
820, fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In order to increase consistency and comparability in
fair value measurements, FASB ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and
unobservable inputs used to measure fair value into three broad levels, which are described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the
lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as considers counterparty credit risk in its
assessment of fair value.

Accounting for Income Taxes - Accounting for income taxes requires significant estimates and judgments on the part
of management. Such estimates and judgments include, but are not limited to, the effective tax rate anticipated to
apply to tax differences that are expected to reverse in the future, the sufficiency of taxable income in future periods to
realize the benefits of net deferred tax assets and net operating losses currently recorded and the likelihood that tax
positions taken in tax returns will be sustained on audit. We account for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC
740 "Income Taxes." As required by FASB ASC 740, we record deferred tax assets or liabilities based on differences
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between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities using currently enacted rates that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. FASB ASC 740 also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a
valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
As of June 28, 2014, cumulative valuation allowances in the amount of $31.5 million were recorded in connection
with domestic net deferred income tax assets.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2009, the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against both its domestic
and international deferred tax assets, having determined it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would
not be realized. The determination of recording and releasing valuations allowances against deferred tax assets is
made, in part, pursuant to the Company’s assessment as to whether it is more likely than not that the Company will
generate sufficient future taxable income against which benefits of the deferred tax assets may or may not be realized.
Significant judgment is required in making estimates regarding the Company’s ability to generate income in future
periods. The Company continued to maintain full valuation allowances on its domestic and international deferred tax
assets through the first quarter of 2014 as there was insufficient positive evidence to overcome the substantial negative
evidence of cumulative losses in periods preceding 2014.

In the second quarter of 2014, the Company reached the conclusion that it was appropriate to release the valuation
allowance reserves against its international deferred tax assets due to the sustained positive operating performance of
its UK operations and the availability of expected future taxable income. The Company achieved a cumulative
three-year positive pre-tax book income position within its UK operations. The Company also considered forecasts of
future operating results and utilization of its UK net operating losses, which do not expire. As a result, the Company
recorded a $1.6 million reversal of its deferred tax asset valuation allowance reserves in the second quarter of 2014
after determining it was more likely than not that its international deferred tax assets would be realized. However, as
mentioned above, a full valuation allowance remains in place for the Company’s domestic deferred tax assets at June
28,2014.
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As required by FASB ASC 740, we have performed a comprehensive review of our portfolio of uncertain tax
positions in accordance with recognition standards established by the guidance. Pursuant to FASB ASC 740, an
uncertain tax position represents our expected treatment of a tax position taken in a filed tax return, or planned to be
taken in a future tax return, that has not been reflected in measuring income tax expense for financial reporting
purposes. As of June 28, 2014, we have no recorded liability for unrecognized tax benefits.

We have generated substantial deferred income tax assets related to our domestic operations, and to a lesser extent our
international operations, primarily from the accelerated financial statement write-off of goodwill, the charge to
compensation expense taken for stock options and net operating losses. Within our foreign operations, mostly
domiciled within the United Kingdom, we have generated deferred tax assets primarily from the charge to
compensation expense for stock options and operating losses. For us to realize the income tax benefit of these assets in
the applicable jurisdiction, we must generate sufficient taxable income in future periods when such deductions are
allowed for income tax purposes. In some cases where deferred taxes were the result of compensation expense
recognized on stock options, our ability to realize the income tax benefit of these assets is also dependent on our share
price increasing to a point where these options have intrinsic value at least equal to the grant date fair value and are
exercised. In assessing whether a valuation allowance is needed in connection with our deferred income tax assets, we
have evaluated our ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to utilize the benefit of the deferred
income tax assets. We continue to evaluate our ability to use recorded deferred income tax asset balances. If we
continue to report domestic operating losses for financial reporting in future years, no additional tax benefit would be
recognized for those losses, since we will not have accumulated enough positive evidence to support our ability to
utilize net operating loss carry-forwards in the future.

International operations have become a significant part of our business. As part of the process of preparing our
financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. We
utilize a "cost plus fixed margin" transfer pricing methodology as it relates to inter-company charges for headquarters
support services performed by our domestic entities on behalf of various foreign affiliates. The judgments and
estimates used are subject to challenge by domestic and foreign taxing authorities. It is possible that such authorities
could challenge those judgments and estimates and draw conclusions that would cause us to incur liabilities in excess
of those currently recorded. We use an estimate of our annual effective tax rate at each interim period based upon the
facts and circumstances available at that time, while the actual annual effective tax rate is calculated at year-end.
Changes in the geographical mix or estimated amount of annual pre-tax income could impact our overall effective tax
rate.

Research and Development and Software Development Costs - Software development costs are accounted for in
accordance with FASB ASC 985-20, "Software - Costs of Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Marketed." Capitalization
of software development costs for products to be sold to third parties begins upon the establishment of technological
feasibility and ceases when the product is available for general release. The establishment of technological feasibility
and the ongoing assessment of recoverability of capitalized software development costs require considerable judgment
by management concerning certain external factors including, but not limited to, the date technological feasibility is
reached, anticipated future gross revenue, estimated economic life and changes in software and hardware
technologies. We capitalize development costs incurred during the period between the establishment of technological
feasibility and the release of the final product to customers if such costs are material. During the thirteen weeks ended
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June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, $360,000 and $119,000, respectively, of these costs were expensed as incurred.
During the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, $564,000 and $314,000, respectively, of these
costs were expensed as incurred. No software development costs were capitalized during the thirteen or twenty-six
weeks ended June 28, 2014 or June 29, 2013.

Share-based Compensation Expense - We grant stock options and non-vested stock to our employees under stock
incentive plans and also provide employees the right to purchase our stock at a discount pursuant to an employee stock
purchase plan. The benefits provided under these plans are share-based payment awards subject to the provisions of
FASB ASC 718, “Compensation-Stock Compensation.” Under FASB ASC 718, we are required to make significant
estimates related to determining the value of our share-based compensation. If factors change and we develop
different assumptions in the application of FASB ASC 718 in future periods, the compensation expense that we record
under FASB ASC 718 may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the current period. There is a high
degree of subjectivity involved when using option pricing models to estimate share-based compensation under FASB
ASC 718. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect our estimates of fair values of our
share-based compensation. Certain share-based payment awards, such as employee stock options, may expire
worthless or otherwise result in zero intrinsic value as compared to the fair values originally estimated on the grant
date and reported in our financial statements. Alternatively, values may be realized from these instruments that are
significantly in excess of the fair values originally estimated on the grant date and reported in our financial statements.
Although the fair value of employee share-based awards is determined in accordance with FASB ASC 718 and SEC’s
Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) SAB No. 110 using an option pricing model, such value may not be indicative of the
fair value observed in a willing buyer/willing seller market transaction.

For stock options, we calculate grant date fair value using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Our expected
stock-price volatility assumption is based on historical volatilities of the underlying stock which are obtained from
public data sources. The expected term of options granted is based on the simplified method in accordance with the
SAB No. 110 as our historical share option exercise experience does not provide a reasonable basis for estimation.
Expense for the awards ultimately expected to vest is recognized on a graded vesting schedule over the vesting period.

For non-vested, performance-based stock awards, compensation expense is recognized based on management’s
expectations with regard to achievement of certain performance and service conditions. The fair value of the awards is
determined based on the market value of the underlying stock at the grant date. Expense for the awards ultimately
expected to vest is recognized on a straight-line basis over the implied service period of the award. There is a high
degree of subjectivity involved when determining the number of awards which are expected to vest over the service
period based on projections of the underlying performance measure. Changes in assumptions related to the
achievement of the performance measure may materially affect the amount of expense recognized by the Company for
performance-based non-vested stock.

For non-vested, service-based stock awards, compensation is recognized based on achievement of service conditions
alone. The fair value of the awards is determined based on the market value of the underlying stock at the grant date.
Expense for the awards ultimately expected to vest is recognized on a graded vesting schedule over the vesting period.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

THIRTEEN WEEKS ENDED JUNE 28, 2014 COMPARED TO THIRTEEN WEEKS ENDED JUNE 29, 2013

REVENUES

Revenues increased 24.1% to $17.4 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 from $14.0 million for the
thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. The increase in revenues was related to our EMEA segment which experienced
an increase in project volumes, which was partially offset by a decrease in revenues in our North America segment.
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North America Segment - North America segment revenues decreased 4.0% to $8.2 million for the thirteen weeks
ended June 28, 2014 from $8.6 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. The reduction in revenues is
primarily due to a decrease in projects with certain carrier and cable customers. During the thirteen weeks ended June
28, 2014, the North America segment provided services on 68 customer projects, compared to 65 projects performed
in the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. Average revenue per project was $121,000 in the thirteen weeks ended
June 28, 2014, compared to $132,000 in the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. Revenues recognized in connection
with fixed price engagements totaled $6.3 million and $5.2 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 and
June 29, 2013, representing 76.5% and 60.8% of the total revenues of the segment, respectively. There were no
revenues from software licensing during both thirteen week periods ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013.

EMEA Segment- EMEA segment revenues increased 68.5% to $9.2 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 28,
2014 from $5.4 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. The increase in revenues was primarily related to
an increase in demand for consulting and solutioning services. During the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 and
June 29, 2013, this segment provided services on 149 and 112 customer projects, respectively. Average revenue per
project was approximately $59,000 and $43,000 for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013,
respectively. Revenues from post-contract software related support services were approximately $320,000 and
$619,000 for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, respectively. Revenues from post-contract
related support services declined in the current period from the prior year due primarily to a negotiated reduction in
support services at a Tier 1 media and telecommunications customer as part of a $15 million three-year take-or-pay
contract for consulting and solutioning services. Revenues from software licensing during the thirteen weeks ended
June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013 were immaterial.

COST OF SERVICES

Cost of services increased 28.5% to $11.1 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 from $8.6 million for
the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. Our gross margin was 36.4% for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014
compared to 38.6% for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. Cost of services during the thirteen weeks ended June
28, 2014 were $5.1 million and $6.0 million in our North America and EMEA segments, respectively. Cost of services
during the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013 were $5.3 million and $3.3 million in our North America and EMEA
segments, respectively. Our North America segment gross margin was 38.4% for the thirteen weeks ended June 28,
2014 compared to 38.1% for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. The increase in gross margin in the second
quarter of 2014 as compared to the same period of 2013 in our North America segment is primarily due to an increase
in our mix of projects, including more strategy and solutioning engagements, partially offset by increased research and
development costs relating to our software platform. Our EMEA segment gross margin was 34.6% for the thirteen
weeks ended June 28, 2014, compared to 39.3% for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. The decrease in gross
margin in the EMEA segment is primarily related to increased utilization of third-party consultants to deliver client
projects.

OPERATING EXPENSES
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Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 33.2% to $7.8 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 28,
2014, from $5.9 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. This increase is primarily due to an additional
$1.4 million accrued during the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 in connection with the arbitration proceedings
described in Note 8, Commitments and Contingencies, in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements (Unaudited) in addition to a $0.5 million increase in personnel related costs, including our investment in
our strategic alliances business. As a percent of revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses were 44.7%
(36.8% excluding arbitration costs) for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014, compared to 41.7% for the thirteen
weeks ended June 29, 2013.

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

Other expense for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 was $17,000 compared to other income of $1,000 for the
thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. Included in other expense for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 are
transaction costs related to the Elutions transaction and interest expense associated with the promissory note issued as
part of the transaction. Partially offsetting this increase in expense is income related to the change in fair value of the
warrants and derivative liabilities that were also issued as part of the Elutions transaction. See Note 2, Strategic
Alliance and Investment by Elutions, Inc., in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited) included in Item 1, Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, of this report.

INCOME TAXES

During the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 we recorded an income tax benefit of $1,553,000 while we recorded an
income tax provision of $23,000 for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013. The income tax benefit for the thirteen
weeks ended June 28, 2014 was related to a $1,582,000 benefit recognized in connection with the release of the
valuation allowance on our international deferred income tax assets which was partially offset by deferred taxes
recognized on goodwill amortized for income tax purposes but not for financial reporting purposes. The income tax
provision for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013 is related exclusively to deferred taxes recognized on goodwill
amortized for income tax purposes but not for financial reporting purposes. For the thirteen weeks ended June 28,
2014, we recorded no income tax benefit related to our domestic pre-tax losses while no income tax benefit related to
both our domestic and international pre-tax losses were recorded during the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013, in
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 740, "Income Taxes", which requires an estimation of our ability to use
recorded deferred income tax assets. We currently have recorded a valuation allowance against all domestic deferred
income tax assets generated due to uncertainty about their ultimate realization as a result of our history of domestic
operating losses. If we continue to report net operating losses for financial reporting in our domestic operations, no
additional tax benefit would be recognized for those losses, since we will not have accumulated enough positive
evidence to support our ability to utilize the net operating loss carry-forwards in the future.

OPERATING INCOME AND NET LOSS
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We recorded operating losses of $1.4 million and $0.4 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June
29, 2013, respectively, and net income of $0.1 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 28, 2014, compared to a net
loss of $0.5 million for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2013.

TWENTY-SIX WEEKS ENDED JUNE 28, 2014 COMPARED TO TWENTY-SIX WEEKS ENDED JUNE 29,
2013

REVENUES

Revenues increased 20.0% to $33.7 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 from $28.0 million for the
twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. The increase in revenues was related to our EMEA segment which
experienced an increase in project volumes, which was partially offset by a decrease in revenues in our North America
segment.
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North America Segment - North America segment revenues decreased 6.7% to $16.3 million for the twenty-six weeks
ended June 28, 2014 from $17.4 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. The reduction in revenues is
primarily due to a decrease in projects with certain carrier and cable customers. During the twenty-six weeks ended
June 28, 2014, the North America segment provided services on 89 customer projects, compared to 92 projects
performed in the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. Average revenue per project was $182,000 in the twenty-six
weeks ended June 28, 2014, compared to $189,000 in the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. Revenues
recognized in connection with fixed price engagements totaled $12.2 million and $10.7 million for the twenty-six
weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, representing 75.0% and 61.7% of the total revenues of the segment,
respectively. There were no revenues from software licensing during both twenty-six week periods ended June 28,
2014 and June 29, 2013.

EMEA Segment- EMEA segment revenues increased 63.5% to $17.4 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28,
2014 from $10.6 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. The increase in revenues was primarily
related to an increase in demand for consulting and solutioning services. During the twenty-six weeks ended June 28,
2014 and June 29, 2013, this segment provided services on 189 and 148 customer projects, respectively. Average
revenue per project was approximately $89,000 and $63,000 for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June
29, 2013, respectively. Revenues from post-contract software related support services were approximately $633,000
and $1,261,000 for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013, respectively. Revenues from
post-contract related support services declined in the current period from the prior year due primarily to a negotiated
reduction in support services at a Tier 1 media and telecommunications customer as part of a $15 million three-year
take-or-pay contract for consulting and solutioning services. Revenues from software licensing during the twenty-six
weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June 29, 2013 were immaterial.

COST OF SERVICES

Cost of services increased 21.6% to $21.4 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 from $17.6 million
for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. Our gross margin was 36.5% for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28,
2014 compared to 37.3% for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. Cost of services during the twenty-six weeks
ended June 28, 2014 were $10.1 million and $11.3 million in our North America and EMEA segments, respectively.
Cost of services during the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013 were $11.0 million and $6.6 million in our North
America and EMEA segments, respectively. Our North America segment gross margin was 38.1% for the twenty-six
weeks ended June 28, 2014 compared to 36.9% for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. The increase in gross
margin in the first two quarters of 2014 as compared to the same period of 2013 in our North America segment is
primarily due to an increase in our mix of projects, including more strategy and solutioning engagements. Our EMEA
segment gross margin was 34.9% for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, compared to 38.0% for the
twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. The decrease in gross margin in the EMEA segment is primarily related to
increased utilization of third-party consultants to deliver client projects.

OPERATING EXPENSES
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Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 24.3% to $13.7 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June
28,2014, from $11.0 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. This increase is primarily due to an
additional $1.4 million accrued during the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 in connection with the arbitration
proceedings described in Note 8, Commitments and Contingencies, in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements (Unaudited), in addition to a $1.2 million increase in personnel related costs, including our
investment in our strategic alliances business. As a percent of revenue selling, general and administrative expenses
were 40.7% (36.7% excluding arbitration costs) for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, compared to 39.3% for
the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013.

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

Other expense for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 was $1,570,000 compared to other income of $2,000 for
the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. The large increase in other expense during the twenty-six weeks ended
June 28, 2014 as compared with the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013 was driven by amortization associated
with the promissory note discount and certain transactions costs on the Elutions transaction which were expensed and
interest expense associated with the promissory note issued as part of the Elutions transaction. Partially offsetting this
increase in expense is income related to the change in fair value of the warrants and derivative liabilities that were also
issued as part of the Elutions transaction. See Note 2, Strategic Alliance and Investment by Elutions, Inc., in the Notes
to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) included in Item 1, Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements, of this report.

INCOME TAXES

During the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 we recorded an income tax benefit of $1,524,000 while we recorded
an income tax provision of $39,000 for the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013. The income tax benefit for the
twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 was related to a $1,582,000 benefit recognized in connection with the release
of the valuation allowance on our international deferred income tax assets partially offset by deferred taxes recognized
on goodwill amortized for income tax purposes but not for financial reporting purposes. The income tax provision for
the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013 was related exclusively to deferred taxes recognized on goodwill amortized
for income tax purposes but not for financial reporting purposes. For the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, we
recorded no income tax benefit related to our domestic pre-tax losses while no income tax benefit related to both our
domestic and international pre-tax losses was recorded during the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013, in
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 740, "Income Taxes", which requires an estimation of our ability to use
recorded deferred income tax assets. We currently have recorded a valuation allowance against all domestic deferred
income tax assets generated due to uncertainty about their ultimate realization as a result of our history of domestic
operating losses. If we continue to report net operating losses for financial reporting in our domestic operations, no
additional tax benefit would be recognized for those losses, since we will not have accumulated enough positive
evidence to support our ability to utilize the net operating loss carry-forwards in the future.
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OPERATING INCOME AND NET LOSS

We recorded operating losses of $1.4 million and $0.6 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and June
29, 2013, respectively, and net losses of $1.5 million and $0.6 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014
and June 29, 2013, respectively.

STATEMENT REGARDING NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASUREMENT

In addition to net loss and net loss per share on a GAAP basis, our management uses a non-GAAP financial measure,
"Non-GAAP adjusted net income or loss," in its evaluation of our performance, particularly when comparing
performance to the prior year's period. This non-GAAP measure contains certain non-GAAP adjustments which are
described in the following schedule entitled "Reconciliation of GAAP Net Income (Loss) to Non-GAAP Adjusted Net
Income (Loss)." In making these non-GAAP adjustments, we take into account certain non-cash expenses and
benefits, including tax effects as applicable, and the impact of certain items that are generally not expected to be
on-going in nature or that are unrelated to our core operations. Management believes the exclusion of these items
provides a useful basis for evaluating underlying business performance, but should not be considered in isolation and
is not in accordance with, or a substitute for, evaluating our performance utilizing GAAP financial information. We
believe that providing such adjusted results allows investors and other users of our financial statements to better
understand our comparative operating performance for the periods presented. Our non-GAAP measure may differ
from similar measures by other companies, even if similar terms are used to identify such measures. Although
management believes the non-GAAP financial measure is useful in evaluating the performance of our business, we
acknowledge that items excluded from such measure have a material impact on our net income (loss) and net income
(loss) per share calculated in accordance with GAAP. Therefore, management uses non-GAAP measures in
conjunction with GAAP results. Investors and other users of our financial information should also consider the above
factors when evaluating our results.
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CARTESIAN, INC.

RECONCILIATION OF GAAP NET INCOME (LOSS) TO NON-GAAP ADJUSTED NET INCOME (LOSS)

(unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Thirteen Weeks Twenty-six Weeks
Ended Ended
June 28, June 29,  June 28, June 29,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Reconciliation of GAAP net income (loss) to non-GAAP adjusted
net income (loss):
GAAP net income (loss) $ 87 $(456 ) $ (1,487 ) $ (609
Depreciation 152 170 339 335
Non-cash share based compensation expense 272 234 446 298
Accrued executive severance and related costs 1,370 - 1,370 -
Discount on note payable and transaction costs 82 - 1,610 -
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities (128 ) - (111 ) -
Tax effect of applicable non-GAAP adjustments (1) 3 23 18 39
Adjustments to GAAP net loss 1,751 427 3,672 672
Non-GAAP adjusted net income (loss) $ 1,838 $ (29 ) $2,185 $63
Reconciliation of GAAP net income (loss) per diluted common
share to non-GAAP adjusted net income (loss) per diluted common
share:
GAAP net income (loss) per diluted common share $0.01 $(0.06 ) $(0.19 ) $(0.08
Depreciation 0.02 0.03 0.04 0.05
Non-cash share based compensation expense 0.04 0.03 0.06 0.04
Accrued executive severance and related costs 0.17 - 0.18 -
Discount on note payable and transaction costs 0.01 - 0.20 -
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities .02 ) - (0.01 ) -
Tax effect of applicable non-GAAP adjustments (1) 0.00 - 0.00 -
Adjustments to GAAP net loss per diluted common share 0.22 0.06 0.47 0.09
Non-GAAP adjusted net income (loss) per diluted common share ~ $ 0.23 $(0.00 ) $0.28 $ 0.01
8,140 7,126 7,748 7,177
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Weighted average shares used in calculation of Non-GAAP
adjusted net income (loss) per diluted common share

The Company calculated the tax effect of non-GAAP adjustments by applying an applicable estimated
jurisdictional tax rate to each specific non-GAAP item after consideration of the Company’s valuation allowance.

ey

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Net cash used in operating activities was $0.1 million and $0.4 million for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014
and June 29, 2013, respectively. For the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014, cash used in operating activities of
$1.1 million (after adding back non-cash items to our net loss and before changes in working capital) was substantially
offset by a net reduction of $1.0 million in net working capital other than cash. The net reduction in working capital
other than cash was due to increases in accounts payable, deferred revenue and accrued liabilities, including the $1.4
million accrual for arbitration costs, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable.

For the twenty-six weeks ended June 29, 2013, cash used in operating activities was the result of increases in net
working capital other than cash of $0.4 million, primarily due to a decrease in accrued liabilities which was partially
offset by a decrease in accounts receivable and an increase in accounts payable.

Net cash used in investing activities was $260,000 and $215,000 for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014 and
June 29, 2013, respectively, and is related to the purchase of office equipment, software and computer equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $5,126,000 and $22,000 for the twenty-six weeks ended June 28, 2014
and June 29, 2013, respectively. Cash provided by financing activities during the twenty-six weeks ended June 28,
2014 was driven by a cash infusion of $5,269,000 related to the issuance of a note payable and common stock in
connection with the Elutions transaction, $66,000 for the issuance of common stock through the employee stock
purchase plan, partially offset by $167,000 in equity issuance costs and $42,000 used to repurchase common stock for
employee income tax withholding. Cash provided by financing activities during the twenty-six weeks ended June 29,
2013 was related to the issuance of stock through the employee stock purchase plan.
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At June 28, 2014, we had approximately $18.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and $17.7 million in net working
capital. At June 28, 2014, $9.0 million of our cash and cash equivalents were denominated in British pounds sterling,
which we would be able to repatriate, if needed, without any negative U.S. income tax consequences. We believe we
have sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet anticipated cash and working capital requirements, including
anticipated capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months and the funding of any liability associated with the
arbitration with our former chief executive officer. Furthermore, based on an analysis of our investments classified as
cash equivalents, we do not believe that we have any material risk related to the liquidity or valuation of these
investments, nor do we believe that we have any material counterparty credit risk related to these investments. Should
our cash and cash equivalents prove insufficient, we may need to obtain new debt or equity financing to support our
operations or complete acquisitions. If we need to obtain new debt or equity financing to support our operations or
complete acquisitions in the future, we may be unable to obtain debt or equity financing on reasonable terms. We have
established a flexible model that provides a lower fixed cost structure than most consulting firms, enabling us to scale
operating cost structures more quickly based on market conditions, although there is a lag in time required to scale the
business appropriately if revenues are reduced. Our strong balance sheet has enabled us to make acquisitions and
related investments in intellectual property and businesses we believe are enabling us to capitalize on the current
transformation of the industry; however, if demand for our consulting services is reduced and we experience negative
cash flow, we could experience liquidity challenges at some point in the future.

On February 25, 2014, we entered into an Investment Agreement with Elutions, a provider of operational business
intelligence solutions. Under the Investment Agreement, among other things, we agreed to issue and sell shares of
common stock to Elutions and the parties agreed that a subsidiary of Elutions would loan funds to a subsidiary of
Cartesian. On March 18, 2014, Cartesian and Elutions completed the closing of the transactions contemplated under
the Investment Agreement. At the Closing, we issued and sold 609,756 shares of common stock to Elutions at a price
of $3.28 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $2.0 million and our subsidiary, Cartesian Limited, issued a
non-convertible promissory note payable to Elutions Capital Ventures S.a r.l, a subsidiary of Elutions, in an aggregate
original principal amount of $3.3 million. The promissory note bears interest at the rate of 7.825% per year, payable
monthly, and matures on March 18, 2019. The promissory note may be called by the holder at any time. See Note 2,
Strategic Alliance and Investment by Elutions, Inc., in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited) included in Item 1, Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, of this report.

On March 3, 2014, the arbitrator in the action by our former chief executive officer issued an interim award finding
that Mr. Nespola's employment was terminated without cause and that Mr. Nespola is entitled to severance under his
employment agreement. On July 14, 2014, the arbitrator issued a second interim award in this matter, finding that Mr.
Nespola was entitled to: (1) a severance benefits award of $1,468,584; (2) attorneys’ fees and costs; and (3)
pre-judgment interest. In the third phase of the proceedings, the arbitrator will determine the amount of Mr. Nespola’s
award for (i) attorneys’ fees and costs; and (ii) pre-judgment interest. Based on the interim rulings, we believe it is
probable that a liability for contractual severance, attorneys' fees and costs, and pre-judgment interest exists at June
28, 2014 related to this action. We have recorded a liability of $2.9 million for the amounts which may be payable as a
result of the arbitration proceedings, consisting of a liability of $1.5 million for severance benefits and $1.4 million for
attorneys' fees and costs and pre-judgment interest. The amount of attorneys’ fees and costs and pre-judgment interest
that may be awarded by the arbitrator could be materially higher than the liability of $1.4 million recorded for such
items. See Note 8, Commitments and Contingencies, in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements (Unaudited) included in Item 1, Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, of this report.
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FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

As described in our discussion of liquidity and capital resources above, on March 18, 2014 our subsidiary, Cartesian
Limited, issued a non-convertible promissory note in the amount of $3.3 million as part of the Investment Agreement
with Elutions. The promissory note may be called by the holder at any time and may be prepaid by Cartesian Limited
after 18 months if the trading price of our common stock exceeds $5.50 per share for a specified period of time and
may be prepaid by Cartesian Limited at any time after 30 months. Upon occurrence of an event of default, the Note
would bear interest at 9.825% per year and could be declared immediately due and payable. See Note 2, Strategic
Alliance and Investment by Elutions, Inc., in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited) included in Item 1, Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, of this report.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“the Exchange Act”)) that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms; and (ii) accumulated and
communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. We have established a Disclosure Committee,
consisting of certain members of management, to assist in this evaluation. The Disclosure Committee meets on a
regular quarterly basis, and as needed.

A review and evaluation was performed by our management, including the person serving as our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer (the “CEO and CFO”), of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report. Based upon this evaluation, the Company’s CEO and CFO
has concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 28, 2014.
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There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended June 28, 2014,
that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On January 10, 2012, Richard P. Nespola, the Company’s former chief executive officer, former chairman of the board
and a former member of the Company’s Board of Directors, filed an action, Richard P. Nespola v. The Management
Network Group. Inc., against the Company with the American Arbitration Association. In the action, Mr. Nespola
claims, among other things, that the Company breached his employment agreement and an implied covenant of good
faith and fair dealing by: (i) improperly deciding not to renew his employment agreement, and (ii) subsequently
deciding to terminate his employment for cause. Mr. Nespola seeks in excess of $1.6 million in damages plus
attorneys’ fees and costs.
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On March 3, 2014, the arbitrator issued an interim award finding that Mr. Nespola's employment was terminated
without cause and that Mr. Nespola is entitled to severance under his employment agreement. On July 14, 2014, the
arbitrator issued a second interim award in this matter, finding that Mr. Nespola was entitled to: (1) a severance
benefits award of $1,468,584; (2) attorneys’ fees and costs; and (3) pre-judgment interest. In the third phase of the
proceedings, the arbitrator will determine the amount of Mr. Nespola’s award for (i) attorneys’ fees and costs; and (ii)
pre-judgment interest. Based on the interim rulings, we believe it is probable that a liability for contractual severance,
attorneys' fees and costs, and pre-judgment interest exists at June 28, 2014 related to this action. We have recorded a
liability of $2.9 million for the amounts which will likely be payable as a result of the arbitration proceedings,
consisting of a liability of $1.5 million for severance benefits and $1.4 million for attorneys' fees and costs and
pre-judgment interest. The amount of attorneys’ fees and costs and pre-judgment interest that may be awarded by the
arbitrator could be materially higher than the liability recorded for such items.

We have not been subject to any material new litigation since the filing on March 28, 2014 of our 2013 Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Not applicable

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(c) ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The following table provides information about purchases by the Company (and its affiliated purchasers) during the
quarter ended June 28, 2014, of equity securities that are registered by the Company pursuant to Section 12 of the
Exchange Act:

Purchases of Equity Securities
(1)
Maximum Number of

Total Number  Average Total Number of Shares

of Price Shares that May Yet Be
Period . Purchased as part of Purchased

Shares Paid per .

Publicly Announced Under the Plans or
Purchased Share

Plans or Programs  Programs

2
6,642 $ 4.19 — $ 2,000,000
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April 27, 2014 through May 24,
2014

Shares withheld from non-vested stock awards that vested in May 2014 to settle the recipients’ income tax
withholding obligation. As of June 28, 2014, there are 703,000 shares of non-vested restricted stock outstanding for
which the award recipients may request shares to be withheld in the future to settle the recipients’ income tax
withholding obligations.
On February 27, 2014, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved a common stock
repurchase program under which the Company may repurchase up to $2 million of Company common stock
(2)through June 30, 2015. Under the program, repurchases may be made by the Company from time to time in the
open market or through privately negotiated transactions depending on market conditions, share price and other
factors. The stock repurchase program may be modified or discontinued at any time by the Board of Directors.

ey

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Company has filed, furnished or
incorporated by reference the documents referenced in the accompanying Index to Exhibits as exhibits to this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The documents include agreements to which the Company is a party or has a
beneficial interest. The agreements have been filed to provide investors with information regarding their respective
terms. The agreements are not intended to provide any other factual information about the Company or its business or
operations. In particular, the assertions embodied in any representations, warranties and covenants contained in the
agreements may be subject to qualifications with respect to knowledge and materiality different from those applicable
to investors and may be qualified by information in confidential disclosure schedules not included with the exhibits.

62



Edgar Filing: Cartesian, Inc. - Form 10-Q

These disclosure schedules may contain information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the
representations, warranties and covenants set forth in the agreements. Moreover, certain representations, warranties
and covenants in the agreements may have been used for the purpose of allocating risk between the parties, rather than
establishing matters as facts. In addition, information concerning the subject matter of the representations, warranties
and covenants may have changed after the date of the respective agreement, which subsequent information may or
may not be fully reflected in the Company's public disclosures. Accordingly, investors should not rely on the
representations, warranties and covenants in the agreements as characterizations of the actual state of facts about the
Company or its business or operations on the date hereof. The Company will furnish to any stockholder, upon written
request, any exhibit listed in the accompanying Index to Exhibits upon payment by such stockholder of the Company's
reasonable expenses in furnishing any such exhibit.
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(a) Exhibits

Exhibit No.

Exhibit 3.1

Exhibit 3.2

Exhibit 4.1

Exhibit 4.2

Exhibit 4.3

Exhibit 10.1

Exhibit 10.2

Exhibit 10.3
Exhibit 31
Exhibit 32

Exhibit 101

Edgar Filing: Cartesian, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Description of Exhibit

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 18, 2014, is
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 3.1.

Amended and Restated Bylaws, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on June 18, 2014, are incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 3.2.

Specimen Common Stock Certificate.

Amended and Restated Common Stock Purchase Warrant (Commercial Incentive) dated May 8, 2014,
between the Company and Elutions, Inc., filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2014, is incorporated herein by
reference as Exhibit 4.2.

Amended and Restated Common Stock Purchase Warrant (Tracking) dated May 8, 2014, between the
Company and Elutions, Inc., filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2014, is incorporated herein by reference as
Exhibit 4.3.

Amendment No. 1 to Investment Agreement, dated May 8, 2014, by and between the Company and
Elutions, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2014, is incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit
10.1.

1998 Equity Incentive Plan (amended and restated June 18, 2014), filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 18, 2014, is
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 10.2.

Incentive Compensation Award granted to Susan M. Simmons on June 17, 2014.
Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certifications furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Cartesian, Inc.
(Registrant)

Date: August 12, 2014 By/s/ Donald E. Klumb
(Signature)
Donald E. Klumb
Chief Executive Officer (Principal executive officer),

President, and Chief Financial Officer (Principal financial officer and

principal accounting officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.

Exhibit 3.1

Exhibit 3.2

Exhibit 4.1

Exhibit 4.2

Exhibit 4.3

Exhibit 10.1

Exhibit 10.2

Exhibit 10.3

Exhibit 31

Exhibit 32

Exhibit 101

Description of Exhibit

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 18, 2014, is
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 3.1.

Amended and Restated Bylaws, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on June 18, 2014, are incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 3.2.

Specimen Common Stock Certificate.

Amended and Restated Common Stock Purchase Warrant (Commercial Incentive) dated May 8, 2014,
between the Company and Elutions, Inc., filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2014, is incorporated herein by
reference as Exhibit 4.2.

Amended and Restated Common Stock Purchase Warrant (Tracking) dated May 8, 2014, between the
Company and Elutions, Inc., filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2014, is incorporated herein by reference as
Exhibit 4.3.

Amendment No. 1 to Investment Agreement, dated May 8, 2014, by and between the Company and
Elutions, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2014, is incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit
10.1.

1998 Equity Incentive Plan (amended and restated June 18, 2014), filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 18, 2014, is
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 10.2.

Incentive Compensation Award granted to Susan M. Simmons on June 17, 2014.
Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certifications furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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